IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1139

ROBERT BEELER POWER, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RACHEL DAY Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0068535

PAUL KALIL Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 174114

ANNA-LIISA NIXON Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 26283

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On June 2, 1990, Robert Beeler Power was found guilty of first-degree premeditated murder, sexual battery, kidnapping, armed burglary, and armed robbery. After a delay of 5 months, the penalty phase proceeded and the jury unanimously recommended a sentence of death. (R. 3254). On November 8, 1990, the trial court imposed a sentence of death. (R. 3254).

The trial court found four aggravating circumstances: Mr. Power had previously been convicted of another violent felony; the capital offense was committed during an enumerated felony; the capital offense was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel; and the capital offense was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated fashion. (R. 3258-3271).

The trial court found the mitigating circumstance of the comparative cost of executing Mr. Power versus life in prison to be strong and heavily weighted, however, the trial court found this mitigating circumstance to be legally inappropriate for consideration or deserved little weight. (R. 3258-3271).

On direct appeal, this Court struck the aggravating circumstances of cold, calculated and premeditated, but upheld Mr. Power's death sentence. *Power v. State*, 605 So. 2d 856 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, *Power v. Florida*, 113 S. Ct. 1863

 $(1993).^{1}$

Mr. Power filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion on June 27, 1994. An amended motion was filed on March 17, 1995. The third and final amended motion was filed

Mr. Power raised the following claims on direct appeal: 1. The evidence presented at trial was insufficient to sustain the jury-s verdict; 2. The prosecutor improperly commented on Mr. Power-s failure to testify; 3. The trial court erred in allowing the introduction of hearsay evidence that erroneously indicated that Mr. Power stole Deputy Welty-s radio; 4. The trial court erred in instructing the jury on flight and denying Mr. Power-s request for a limiting instruction; 5. Mr. Power was denied the right to a fair trial when a deputy sheriff prepared to Adraw down@on him in full view of the jury; 6. The trial court erred in allowing Deputy Welty to testify about hearsay statements made by Frank Miller regarding how he normally picked up the victim for school and his description of the man he saw in front of the victim=s house on the morning of the murder; 7. The trial court erred in refusing to suppress certain physical evidence because (1) the affidavit upon which the search warrant was based contained misleading information or omitted material facts; (2) the officers conducting the search did not Aknock and announce@their identities and purpose in violation of section 933.09 of the Florida Statutes; and (3) the search warrant was invalid because it contained the wrong name of the owner of the house; 8. The grand jury and its foreperson were selected discriminatorily and the grand jury was illegally constituted and improperly paneled; 9. Numerous errors during jury selection warrant a new trial; 10. The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to give two special jury instructions; 11. The trial court erred in restricting defense counsel's attempts to rehabilitate Dr. Radelet after the State impeached him regarding his personal bias against the death penalty; 12. The trial court improperly found that the killing was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; 13. The trial court erred in finding the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner; 14. Mr. Power was denied effective assistance of counsel and a full appellate review due to inaccuracies in the trial transcript; 15. Section 921.141(5)(h), which defines the statutory aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, and cruel, and the standard jury instruction on this factor, are unconstitutionally vague; and 16. Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional.

2

Mr. Power raised the following claims in his first 3.851 motion: (1) denial of public records; (2) denial of effective representation because of lack of funding; (3) denial of due process because State withheld material and exculpatory or impeachment evidence; (4) denial of reliable adversarial testing; (5) ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase and sentencing; (6) court used previous violent felony aggravator and counsel did not adequately investigate; (7) law unconstitutionally shifted burden to Mr. Power to prove that death was inappropriate; (8) introduction of non-statutory aggravating circumstances and State's improper argument on those circumstances; (9) trial court failed to find statutory and non-statutory mitigation and used unconstitutional standard of proof for finding mitigating circumstances; (10) prosecutorial misconduct; (11) Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied; (12) death sentence rests upon an unconstitutionally automatic aggravating circumstance; (13) Mr. Power is innocent of the offenses; (14) denial of rights under Ake v. Oklahoma; (15) Mr. Power did not make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his of responsibility (16) jury's sense towards sentencing unconstitutionally diluted; (17) cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance is unconstitutionally vague; (18) FSC conducted a constitutionally inadequate harmless error analysis in considering impact of invalid CCP aggravating circumstance; (19) aggravating circumstances were overbroadly and vaguely argued by State; (20) denial of due process because penalty phase was conducted 5 months after guilt/ innocence phase; (21) trial court allowed jury to hear evidence in detail of prior felonies; (22) defense counsel abandoned duty of loyalty to Mr. Power during penalty phase closing argument; (23) trial court failed to consider and find as a mitigating circumstance the cost of executing Mr. Power versus the cost of him serving a life sentence; (24) trial court erred when it attempted to define a reasonable doubt; (25) trial court improperly instructed jury on flight; (26) trial court gave unconstitutionally deficient jury instructions on aggravating circumstance in 921.141.(5)(h); (27) trial court erroneously instructed jury on standard by which to judge expert testimony; (28) denial of effective assistance of counsel because of rules prohibiting Mr. Power's counsel from interviewing jurors; (29) denial of fair and impartial trial because trial court permitted State to introduce gruesome and shocking photographs; (30) Mr. Power is insane to be executed; (32) Mr. Power did not make a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of his right to present penalty phase evidence and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate whether Mr. Power was capable of waiving this right; (33) trial court's sentencing order did not reflect an independent

May 6, 1999, the trial court granted an evidentiary hearing on eight of Mr. Power's claims. (PC-R. 568-571).

Before Mr. Power's evidentiary hearing, the State attempted to have Mr. Power evaluated for competency. (PC-R. 2546). Counsel for Mr. Power objected and filed an interlocutory appeal to this Court, arguing that Mr. Power's counsel had not called into question Mr. Power's competency to proceed in post-conviction. (PC-R. 2595). This Court stayed the lower court proceedings and ordered briefing, but then on September 5, 2000, this Court dismissed the interlocutory appeal without issuing an opinion. (SC96659).

The evidentiary hearing was held on January 29-31, 2001 and April 2-5, 2001. The trial court denied relief on January 25, 2002, and denied rehearing on March 11, 2002. This Court affirmed the denial of Mr. Power's 3.850 motion and denied his petition for a writ of habeas corpus on May 6, 2004. *Power v. State*, 886 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 2004). Rehearing was denied on July 8, 2004.

On July 6, 2005, Mr. Power filed a federal habeas petition in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, Orlando Division. On August 22, 2006, Mr. Power's case was transferred to the United States District

weighing or reasoned judgment; (34) denial of fair trial because of excessive security measures and shackling; (35) Mr. Power is innocent of the death penalty; (36) denial of proper direct appeal because of omissions in the record; (37) execution by electrocution is cruel and/ or unusual punishment; (38) cumulative error.

Court for the Middle District of Florida, Ft. Myers division. His federal habeas petition is currently pending there.

On November 20, 2006, Mr. Power filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion, raising three claims: (1) Florida's lethal injection statute and existing method used to carry out executions by lethal injection violates Article II, section 3 and Article I, section 17 of the Florida Constitution, as well as the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution; (2) Mr. Power is exempt from execution under the Eighth Amendment because he suffers from such severe mental illness that death can never be an appropriate punishment; and (3) newly discovered empirical evidence demonstrates that Mr. Power's conviction and sentence of death violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. The State filed an answer on December 1, 2006. Mr. Power thereafter filed an amended successive Rule 3.851 motion on December 28, 2006, and a case management conference/ Huff hearing was held on that same day. On May 7, 2007, the circuit court summarily denied Mr. Power's successive Rule 3.851 motion without an evidentiary hearing, and on June 5, 2007, Mr. Power timely filed a Notice of Appeal. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr. Power's claim challenging Florida's lethal injection statute and procedures on the grounds that the statute violates the Separation of Powers clause of the Florida Constitution and the

procedures violate the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment, as well as the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

- II. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Power's claim that newly discovered evidence demonstrates that he is exempt from execution because he suffers from such severe mental illness that the death penalty can never be an appropriate punishment. The circuit court erred in finding that the claim was procedurally barred. This claim is based on an August 8, 2006 report and thus was previously unknown and could not have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence. The circuit court therefore erred in finding it untimely. Further, the instant argument is by no means the same as the ineffective assistance of counsel argument Mr. Power raised in his initial Rule 3.851 motion and therefore the circuit court erred in finding the instant claim "successive" and untimely.
- III. The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr. Power's claim that newly discovered evidence demonstrates that his conviction and death sentence are unconstitutional because Florida's capital punishment system does not satisfy the promise of *Furman v. Georgia*, 408 U.S. 238, 310 (1972) (per curiam). Mr. Power's that allegation that numerous systemic problems unveiled in the American Bar Association's Florida Death Penalty Assessment Report were at play in his trial, at both the guilt and penalty phases, is not conclusively refuted by the files and record in this case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The constitutional arguments advanced in this brief present mixed questions of fact and law. As such, this Court is required to give deference to the factual conclusions of the lower court. The legal conclusions of the lower court are to be reviewed independently. *See Ornelas v. U.S.*, 517 U.S. 690 (1996); *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1034 (Fla. 1999). Since no evidentiary development was permitted, Mr. Power's factual allegations must be accepted as true. *Borland v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1288, 1290 (Fla. 2003); *Maharaj v. State*, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996).

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON MR. POWER'S CLAIM THAT FLORIDA'S LETHAL INJECTION STATUTE AND THE EXISTING LETHAL INJECTION PROCEDURES VIOLATE THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 17 AND ARTICLE II, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AS THEY CONSTITUTE CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT AND VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE.

In his successive Rule 3.851 motion, Mr. Power raised a two-pronged challenge to Florida's lethal injection statute and procedures, alleging that Florida's lethal injection statute and the procedures used to carry out executions by lethal injection, promulgated on August 16, 2006, violate the United States and Florida Constitutions. The circuit court summarily denied his claim on both

grounds without an evidentiary hearing.

A. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Power's claim that Florida's lethal injection statute violates Article II, Section 3 and Article I, Section 17 of the Florida Constitution and the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

Mr. Power argued that Florida's Ethal injection statute, Section 922.105, Florida Statutes, is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative authority under the separation of powers doctrine of the Florida Constitution and violates that Fourteenth Amendment due process clause because the legislature gave the Department of Corrections (hereinafter "DOC") no intelligible principle by which to create a rule of lethal injection protocol. Alternatively, Mr. Power argued that the legislature's exemption of policies and procedures relating to lethal injection from the constraints and procedural protections of Florida's Administrative Procedures Act (hereinafter "APA"), without offering alternative procedures, gives the DOC unfettered discretion to create a lethal injection protocol. The circuit court summarily denied Mr. Power's challenge to Florida's lethal injection statute:

The Florida Supreme Court has consistently rejected this argument. *See Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d 1136, 1143 (Fla. 2006); *Sims v. State*, 754 So. 2d 657, 668 (Fla. 2000); and *Hill v. State*, 921 So. 2d 579, 582-583 (Fla. 2006). Florida's lethal injection statute "is not so indefinite as to constitute an improper delegation of legislative power." *Sims*, 754 So. 2d at 670. The statute clearly defined the punishment to be imposed, which is death. The legislative purpose of the statute is to impose death. DOC has personnel better qualified to make determinations regarding the methodology and chemicals to be used to

achieve the legislative purpose with human dignity. Finally, the previous law relating to electrocution did not specify the manner in which it was to be applied. *Id*.

(PC-R2. 2269).

The circuit court erroneously relied on *Sims v. State*, 754 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2000) to deny this claim. The *Sims* decision did not address Mr. Power's specific argument. This Court concluded in *Sims* that "the lethal injection statute is not so indefinite as to constitute an improper delegation of legislative power, and the lack of specific details about the chemicals to be used does not violate the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment." *Id.* at 670. Mr. Power raises a different issue, namely, the legislature's exemption of the lethal injection protocol from the requirements of Florida's APA.

While this Court has recently addressed this argument in *Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d 1136, 1143 (Fla. 2006), Mr. Power notes that this Court's reasoning was based on the methods available to challenge lethal injection procedures, not the method by which lethal injection procedures are developed. Mr. Power maintains that the legislature's exemption of the DOC's lethal injection protocol from the **rulemaking requirements** of the APA violates the Separation of Powers Clause of the Florida Constitution. The exemption of the lethal injection protocol from the APA and resulting lack of a notice and comment procedure deprived Mr. Power of the opportunity to comment on any proposed lethal injection procedure. The circuit

court erred in denying Mr. Power's claim on this ground and this Court should reverse that decision.

B. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Power's claim that Florida's lethal injection procedures are unconstitutional.

Mr. Power also alleged that Florida's lethal injection procedures are unconstitutional because they will inflict upon Mr. Power cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and corresponding provision of the Florida Constitution. The circuit court also summarily denied the claim that Florida's lethal injection procedures as applied are unconstitutional:

The Florida Supreme Court has found the study published in *The Lancet* to be inconclusive and ruled that it did not warrant an evidentiary hearing. Hill v. State, 921 So. 2d at 853; Rutherford v. State, 926 So. 2d 1100, 1113-1114 (Fla. 2006). It has also ruled that the federal decisions Defendant cites, such as Morales v. Hickman, 415 F. Supp. 2d 1037 (N.D. Cal. 2006), do not warrant relief, as the same issues had been litigated in Sims. Diaz v. State, 945 So. 2d at 1144. The claim regarding the DOC's revised lethal injection protocol, promulgated on August 16, 2006, is premature. On December 15, 2006, then-Governor Jeb Bush issued a Statement and Executive Order creating a Commission Administration of Lethal Injection, which was charged with reviewing the method in which the lethal injection protocols are administered. This Commission has issued a report and made recommendations for further revision to the DOC protocol. Therefore, this aspect of the claim will be denied without prejudice.

(PC-R2. 2269-70). Mr. Power acknowledges that this Court has recently upheld the

constitutionality of Florida's lethal injection procedures in *Schwab v. State*, 2008 Fla. LEXIS 55 (Fla. Jan. 24, 2008), Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007), and Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007). Mr. Power submits, however, that the circuit court erred in denying his claim without evidentiary hearing. This Court has long held that a postconviction defendant is "entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless 'the motion and the files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986), quoting Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. "Under rule 3.850, a postconviction defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and record conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief." Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999). Factual allegations as to the merits of a constitutional claim as well as to issues of diligence must be accepted as true, and an evidentiary hearing is warranted if the claims involve "disputed issues of fact." Maharaj v. State, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996). The same standard applies to successive motions to vacate. Lightbourne v. State, 742 So. 2d 238, 249 (Fla. 1999). This Court, like the lower court, must accept that Mr. Power's allegations are true at this point in the proceedings. Lightbourne v. State, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989). Mr. Power's Rule 3.851 motion pled facts regarding the merits of his claim and his diligence which must be accepted as true. When these facts are accepted as true, it is clear that the files and records in the case do not conclusively rebut Mr. Power's claim and that an evidentiary hearing is required. As demonstrated herein, Mr. Power is entitled to an evidentiary hearing and thereafter relief on his claim.

Furthermore, in light of the United States Supreme Court's recent grant of certiorari review of similar issues regarding the constitutionality of lethal injection, *Baze v. Rees*, (Docket No. 07-5439),³ Mr. Power maintains that execution by lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth

Baze will determine the threshold question as to what legal standard should be applied in evaluating an Eighth Amendment claim challenging the method of execution in a capital case and resolve the "current uncertainty in the exact standard" noted by this Court in *Lightbourne v. McCollum*, 969 So. 2d 326, 339 (Fla. 2007). *Baze* presented the following questions for review:

I. Does the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibit means for carrying out a method of execution that create an unnecessary risk of pain and suffering as opposed to only a substantial risk of the wanton infliction of pain?

II. Do the means for carrying out an execution cause an unnecessary risk of pain and suffering in violation of the Eighth Amendment upon a showing that readily available alternatives that pose less risk of pain and suffering could be used?

III. Does the continued use of sodium thiopental, pancuronium bromide, and potassium chloride, individually or together, violate the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Eighth Amendment because lethal injections can be carried out by using other chemicals that pose less risk of pain and suffering? (See Pet. for Writ of Certiorari, p. ii-iii).

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