IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1139

ROBERT BEELER POWER,

Appellant

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0410519 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I. The trial judge did not err in summarily denying Power's lethal injection claims. These issues are procedurally barred and have no merit. Power raised the constitutionality of lethal injection as Argument XI in the Initial Brief in the prior postconviction proceeding, and this Court denied relief. *Power v. State*, 886 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 2004). Insofar as the execution procedures promulgated after the Diaz execution, the case of *Lightbourne v. State*, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007) is dispositive.

ARGUMENT II. Power is not exempt from execution due to mental illness. He is neither retarded nor insane. Whether he is incompetent to be executed is an issue he should raise after a death warrant is signed. This issue is also procedurally barred because it was raised as an issue in *Power v. State*, 886 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 2004).

ARGUMENT III. The American Bar Association report on the death penalty is not newly discovered evidence. *Rutherford v. State*, 940 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 2006). The issue is procedurally barred and, as this Court has repeatedly held, has no merit.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN **LETHAL** SUMMARILY DENYING **POWER'S INJECTION** CLAIMS; THIS ISSUE IS **PROCEDURALLY BARRED**

Power's first argument is that the trial judge erred in summarily denying his

challenges to Florida's lethal injection procedures.¹ More particularly, Power claims:

(1) Section 922.105 is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative authority;

(2) Florida's lethal injection procedures will inflict cruel and unusual punishment.

(Initial Brief at 7, 10).

The issues are procedurally barred. The lethal injection statute was enacted

January 14, 2000. Power raised the constitutionality of lethal injection as Argument

XI in the Initial Brief in the prior postconviction proceeding, and this Court denied

relief. Power v. State, 886 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 2004), finding:

Death Penalty Challenges

¹ The following appeals are pending in this Court after summary denial on postconviction lethal injection claims: *Ventura v. State*, Case No. SC08-60; *Marquard v. State*, Case No. SC08-148; *Melton v. State*, Case No. SC08-219; *Mann v. State*, Case No. SC08-62; *Henyard v. State*, Case No. SC08-222; *Pittman v.* State, Case No. SC08-146 and *Burns v. State*, Case No. SC08-192.

Lastly, Power contends that Florida's death penalty unconstitutionally permits cruel and unusual punishment, and that he is insane to be executed. This Court has previously rejected similar claims regarding the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty. *See Provenzano v. State*, 761 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 2000) (holding execution by lethal injection does not constitute cruel punishment or unusual punishment or both); *Provenzano v. Moore*, 744 So. 2d 413, 416 (Fla. 1999) (holding execution by electrocution in Florida's electric chair does not constitute cruel or unusual punishment).

Power v. State, 886 So.2d 952, 958 (Fla. 2004).

Further, this issue has no merit and has been denied repeatedly by this Court.

The trial judge held:

<u>Claim I</u>: Defendant challenges the constitutionality of Florida's lethal injection statute Section 922.105, Florida Statutes, and the existing procedure used to carry out lethal injections. In sub-section A, he argues the statute is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative authority and a violation of due process because the Legislature gave the Department of Corrections (herein 'DOC") no intelligible principle by which to create a rule of lethal injection protocol. He further argues the statute's exemption from the constraints of Florida's Administrative Procedure Act gives DOC unfettered discretion to create the protocol 'behind closed doors and by any method of its choosing,' which cannot pass constitutional muster.

The Florida Supreme Court has consistently rejected this argument. See *Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d 1136 1143 (Fla. 2006); *Sims v. State*, 754 So. 2d 657, 668 (Fla. 2000); and *Hill v. State*, 921 So. 2d 579, 582-583 (Fla. 2006). Florida's lethal injection statute "is not so indefinite as to constitute an improper delegation of legislative power." *Sims*, 754 So. 2d at 670. The statute clearly defines the punishment to be imposed, which is death. The legislative purpose of the statute is to impose death. DOC has personnel better qualified to make determinations regarding the methodology and chemicals to be used to achieve the legislative purpose with humane dignity. Finally, the previous law relating to electrocution

did not specify the manner in which it was to be applied. Id.

In sub-section 8, Defendant argues the lethal injection procedure that Florida uses in executions will inflict cruel and unusual punishment upon him. In support, he cites DOC's revised lethal injection protocol, an article published in the medical journal *The Lancet* in April 2005, and several United States District Court orders granting relief in similar challenges.

The Florida Supreme Court has found the study published in *The Lancet* to be inconclusive and ruled that it did not warrant an evidentiary hearing. *Hill v.* State, 921 So. 2d at 853; *Rutherford v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1100, 1113-1114 (Fla. 2006). It has also ruled that the federal decisions Defendant cites, such as *Morales v. Hickman*, 415 E.Supp.2d 1037 (N.D.Cal. 2006), do not warrant relief, as the same issues had been litigated in *Sims. Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d at 1144. The claim regarding the DOC's revised lethal injection protocol, promulgated on August 16, 2006, is premature. On December 15, 2006, then-Governor Jeb Bush issued a Statement and Executive Order creating a Commission on Administration of Lethal Injection, which was charged with reviewing the method in which the lethal injection protocols are administered. This Commission has issued a report and made recommendations for further revision to the DOC protocol. Therefore this aspect of the claim will be denied without prejudice.

(R2268-69).

In addition to the cases cited by the trial judge, this Court has recently issued two decisions involving lethal injection, and has resolved claims surrounding any revised lethal injection procedures. *Lightbourne v. McCollum*, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007); *Schwab v. State*, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007). Although the trial judge denied Power's claim regarding the August 2006 procedures "without prejudice," that issue is moot since those procedures have been superseded by the August 2007 procedures, which this Court upheld in *Lightbourne* and *Schwab*. Power raised nothing different from *Lightbourne* in his motion, and there is no need for an evidentiary hearing. *See Schwab*. Insofar as Power cites to *Baze v. Rees*, United States Supreme Court Case No. 07-5439, this Court discussed the import of *Baze* in *Lightbourne*, and *Lightbourne* is dispositive.

<u>ARGUMENT II</u>

POWER IS NOT EXEMPT FROM THE DEATH PENALTY BECAUSE OF MENTAL ILLNESS

Power claims he is exempt from execution because he suffers from a severe

mental illness. This issue is procedurally barred. The issue was raised in Power v.

State, 886 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 2004), and this Court held:

Death Penalty Challenges

Lastly, Power contends that Florida's death penalty unconstitutionally permits cruel and unusual punishment, and that he is insane to be executed. This Court has previously rejected similar claims regarding the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty. *See Provenzano v. State*, 761 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 2000) (holding execution by lethal injection does not constitute cruel punishment or unusual punishment or both); *Provenzano v. Moore*, 744 So. 2d 413, 416 (Fla. 1999) (holding execution by electrocution in Florida's electric chair does not constitute cruel or unusual punishment). Furthermore, we reject as premature Power's claim that he is insane to be executed. As he acknowledges, this claim is not yet ripe and therefore, merits no relief from this Court.

Power v. State, 886 So. 2d 952, 958 (Fla. 2004).

In attempt to avoid the procedural bar, Power cites to a 2006 American Bar

Association resolution as newly discovered evidence. (Initial Brief at 19). This Court

has previously rejected Power's argument that the report was newly discovered

evidence or was dispositive of Florida cases:

On September 17, 2006, the American Bar Association published a report on Florida's death penalty system. The report, titled Evaluating Fairness and Accuracy in the State Death Penalty System: The Florida Death Penalty Assessment Report, analyzes Florida's death penalty laws, procedures and practices, and highlights areas in which, in the view of the assessment team, Florida "fall[s] short in the effort to afford every capital defendant fair and accurate procedures." ABA Report at iii.

We agree with the circuit court's conclusion that the ABA Report is not "newly discovered evidence." The ABA Report is a compilation of previously available information related to Florida's death penalty system and consists of legal analysis and recommendations for reform, many of which are directed to the executive and legislative branches. See ABA Report at ii ("The state assessment teams are responsible for collecting and analyzing various laws, rules, procedures, standards, and guidelines relating to the administration of the death penalty" and the assessment team's findings "are intended to serve as the bases from which [the state] can launch [a] comprehensive self-examination.").

However, even if we were to consider the information contained in the ABA Report, nothing therein would cause this Court to recede from its decisions upholding the facial constitutionality of the death penalty. *See e.g., Hodges v. State*, 885 So. 2d 338, 359 & n.9 (Fla. 2004) (noting that the defendant's claim that "the death penalty statute is unconstitutional because it fails to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty, violates due process, and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment," has "consistently been determined to lack merit"); *Lugo v. State*, 845 So. 2d 74, 119 (Fla. 2003) ("We have previously rejected the claim that the death penalty system is unconstitutional as being arbitrary and capricious because it fails to limit the class of persons eligible for the death penalty."). Further, Rutherford does not allege how any of the conclusions reached in the ABA Report would render his individual

death sentence unconstitutional.

Rutherford v. State, 940 So. 2d 1112, 1118 (Fla. 2006).

Power also attempts to avoid the procedural bar by stating he previously raised this claim as a Sixth Amendment claim, but is now raising it as an Eighth Amendment claim. (Initial Brief at 21). The logic of this argument is baffling, to say the least. This claim was previously raised and is procedurally barred. The fact that counsel has now couched the argument in different terms hardly serves to rewind the clock and breathe new life into this claim.

The trial court held:

<u>Claim II</u>: Defendant asserts he is exempt from execution because he suffers from such severe mental illness that death could never be an appropriate punishment. In support, he argues he has been diagnosed with major recurrent depression neurological impairments, and post-traumatic stress disorder. He cites, inter alia, American Bar Association Resolution 1 22A, which recommends that each jurisdiction that imposes capital punishment implement policies and procedures to prevent severely mentally ill defendants from being executed. He also argues that he falls within the class of persons who are so much less morally culpable than the average murderer as to be categorically excluded from eligibility for the death penalty. Here, he cites *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), and *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002).

Mental illness may be a statutory or non-statutory mitigating circumstance, but neither the Florida Supreme Court nor the United States Supreme Court has recognized it as a <u>per se</u> bar to execution. *Din v*. State, 945 So. 2d at 1150-1151. It is merely one of many factors to be considered and weighed by a trial court when imposing a sentence. *Id*.2

^{2 &#}x27;In the Diaz case, there was no evidence of mental illness presented at trial, but

The only factors that 'exempt' an individual from the death penalty are age, mental retardation and insanity. *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002); *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.811(d). None of these factors apply in the instant case. Defendant was not under 18 at the time of the crime, and he has not been diagnosed with either mental retardation or insanity. Therefore, these factors simply do not apply to him, and this Court is aware of no controlling Florida case law that renders mental illness equivalent thereto for purposes of evaluating eligibility for the death penalty.

In addition, this claim is procedurally barred. Defendant fails to allege or establish why he could not have raised it in his original Rule 3.851 motion or why he is raising it again for a second time. Fn 1.

Fn 1. In the Diaz case, there was no evidence of mental illness presented at trial, but collateral counsel did present experts during the postconviction proceedings.

It is both successive and untimely. Furthermore, his own allegations demonstrate an acknowledgment that the issue of mental illness was presented at the 2001 evidentiary hearing. Despite the court's finding of the 'compelling' nature of the testimony presented by Drs. Hyde, Merikangas, Crown, and Sultan, it did not find that testimony to be a basis for relief:

Nevertheless, this court also finds that Mr. Power was firm and unwavering in his decision to refuse to allow counsel to present mitigation, and that he was capable of making this decision in a reasoned, well-informed manner. While the experts indicated his history and psychological problems may have affected his ability to make rational decisions, that retrospective diagnosis appears to be belied by the record, particularly the transcripts of the July and October 1990 in camera hearings, in which Mr. Power shows himself to be an active participant in his defense team, insistent upon proclaiming his innocence, and capable of

collateral counsel did present experts during the postconviction proceedings

articulating his preferred strategy and his rationale for that strategy.

Finally, throughout the course of the evidentiary hearings conducted in January and April 2001, this court had the opportunity to observe Mr. Power in person. At all times, he appeared to be alert and intelligent, he was engaged in the proceedings and frequently communicated with his attorneys. Granted, many years have passed since the date of the trial, but this court adds its own observations to those of the doctors who have also recently examined Mr. Power to arrive at a final conclusion on his overall competence. While he was certainly must have been affected by the trauma of his childhood and by his psychological impairments, he was still reasonably capable of making an informed waiver of mitigation. In the final analysis, it was not a wise decision he made when he chose to waive mitigation, but it was his to make and counsel was not ineffective for following his instructions. See Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993).

(R2270-2271). As the trial court found, this issue has no merit.

ARGUMENT III

THE ISSUE REGARDING THE AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION REPORT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND HAS NO MERIT.

Power's last argument is that the September 17, 2006, resolution of the American Bar Association is newly discovered evidence and demonstrates the unconstitutionality of Florida's death penalty procedures. Power acknowledges that this Court has held differently. (Initial Brief at 32). *Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 2006); *Rutherford v. State*, 940 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 2006); *Rolling v. State*, 944

So.2d 176 (Fla. 2006). This Court has previously rejected Power's argument that the

report was newly discovered evidence or was dispositive of Florida cases:

On September 17, 2006, the American Bar Association published a report on Florida's death penalty system. The report, titled Evaluating Fairness and Accuracy in the State Death Penalty System: The Florida Death Penalty Assessment Report, analyzes Florida's death penalty laws, procedures and practices, and highlights areas in which, in the view of the assessment team, Florida "fall[s] short in the effort to afford every capital defendant fair and accurate procedures." ABA Report at iii.

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